Supreme Court No. 99732-2  
(Court of Appeals No. 36432-1-III  
consolidated with No. 37546-3-III)

---

In the Supreme Court of the State of Washington

---

State of Washington  
Respondent

v.

---

Sloan P. Stanley  
Petitioner

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Sloan P. Stanley, pro se  
DOC # 386799  
Coyote Ridge Corrections Center  
P.O. BOX 769  
Connell, WA 99326

##

## I. Introduction

Petitioner Sloan P. Stanley acting pro se comes forth this day to ask the honorable Court to please review the issues presented here from both the Statement of Additional Grounds (SAG) that he authored for his direct appeal and from the Personal Restraint Petition (PRP) that he also authored and had consolidated with his direct appeal. These issues are of course separate from the issues his appellate attorney raised in the direct appeal. However, there is one issue raised by his attorney that he will also take this opportunity to ask this Court to review. This direct appeal Case No. 36432-1-III (consolidated with No. 37546-3-III) was heard by the Court of Appeals and an opinion was filed on March 02, 2021. Both Petitioner and the State motioned for reconsideration and both were denied with the Court filing the new opinion on April 15, 2021.

Out of an abundance of caution and in anticipation that the State will be petitioning this Court for review I have decided to bring this petition, to at the very least preserve the various issues that I will be bringing to the Court's attention. I also want to make it abundantly clear that I am not dissatisfied with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the issue they reversed the

conviction on. This was clearly a well reasoned decision guided in sound logic and good law. While I do not see a viable path forward for the State to obtain review of this well reasoned decision, I have nevertheless decided to pursue review myself, in as previously stated, an abundance of caution.

As I have just explained I am not dissatisfied with the Court of Appeals decision to reverse my conviction, for obvious reasons. However, I am a bit disappointed that the Court did not address many of the issues I raised in my SAC and PRP. These issues are not moot because they could lead to effective relief and I will be asking this Court to please review them, since the Court of Appeals would not. There are also a few issues that the Court did address, including one raised by my appellate attorney, that I will also be asking this Court to review. The issues will be presented in what follows.

## II. Issues Presented for Review

•1.) Did the Appellate Court err when it decided that given their decision the remaining issues were moot when many of the issues could still lead to effective relief?

•2.) Does BCW 9A.46.020 violate the First Amendment overbreadth doctrine and is it void for vagueness,

in as much as the statute allows for convictions of mere negligent speech, and does not with clarity define what specific speech is proscribable?

•3.) Does BCW 9A.72.160 violate the First Amendment overbreadth doctrine and is it void for vagueness, in as much as the statute allows for convictions of mere negligent speech, and does not with clarity define what specific speech is proscribable?

•4.) Did the State present insufficient evidence to prove a true threat on all counts, where the evidence of threats considering the complete context and circumstances surrounding the evidence can be considered nothing more than idle talk?

•5.) Did the State present an insufficient probable cause, where their informant ultimately did not pass the veracity prong of the Aguilar-Spinelli test, and an independent investigation to corroborate the informant turned out to ultimately be unsuccessful?

•6.) Did the State engage in outrageous governmental conduct, where its informants, detective and prosecutor committed perjury; the prosecutor and detective engaged in witness tampering; the prosecutor and detective essentially engender the fear into the victims leading them to believe false facts, committing harassment themselves; and the prosecutor continued a prosecution

he knew was not supported by probable cause?

•7.) Did the State engage in governmental misconduct, where their late disclosure of not using an informant as a witness and their non-disclosure that this same informant provided false information of material facts, proving that no allegations occurred in the county the trial was about to commence in, making the Petitioner choose between his right to a proper venue, or a speedy trial and effective assistance of counsel? Does a prosecution have to be ongoing for a defendant to bring a CrA 8.3(b) claim for governmental misconduct?

•8.) Did the trial court commit error when it allowed for the State to introduce highly prejudicial ER 404(b) evidence, when the element to which the evidence was sought for required a low threshold showing, the highly prejudicial evidence tended to disprove the element, and there existed alternate evidence just as probative but substantially less prejudicial?

•9.) What is the correct standard when the prosecutor elicits false testimony? Is the claim sufficient when the prosecutor "knew or should have known" that the testimony was false, or is it only sufficient when the prosecutor "knew" precluding "should have known"?



•10.) Do the many instances of a lack of impartiality by the King County Prosecutor, and the fact that one of the victims is a King County Prosecutor, not to mention the fact King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office had already agreed to their recusal only to later renege on the agreement; require King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office to recuse themselves?

•11.) Does the trial judge's exhibited bias, with multiple occasions of an apparent bias and one conclusive instance of actual bias require the trial judge to be disqualified from any further proceedings in this case?

•12.) Were both of the sentencing aggravators applied in error, where they both encompassed elements already present in the statute of harassment, and where the egregious lack of remorse aggravator only applies to conduct in the current charge and not prior charges?

### III. Statement of the Case

One misdemeanor to 15 felonies, 30 days to a 33 ½ year sentence. The extreme disparity shown here is what has occurred to me because nearly seven years ago I would not accept a misdemeanor and vehemently demanded a jury trial in my cyberstalking

case, which is directly connected to the current case. It was these actions that subsequently led to me ultimately having 15 felonies and a  $33\frac{1}{2}$  year sentence.

It was my strong conviction in my cyberstalking case that I was innocent, because regardless of anything I said (or wrote) I did not have any intent to intimidate, harass, embarrass or torment as the cyberstalking statute required. Also, I had plans to take the Professional Engineers exam in the spring of 2015 (originally arrested Oct. 3, 2014) and I did not want to have to list the cyberstalking conviction on the exam application, especially when I felt I was not guilty of it. So I proceeded to go to trial where I ended up representing myself pro se. In what I feel was a very unfair trial I was ultimately convicted of nine felony counts of cyberstalking. And, make no mistake about it, it was a conviction for mere negligent speech.

Everytime I would not plea leading up to trial, the state would up the charges. One misdemeanor went to one felony count, to four felony counts, and finally to nine felony counts. Of course, everytime the charges were increased the more of a monster the state made me out to be. The State ignored the totality of the facts and pushed a false narrative. I never denied the things I said were abhorrent, repugnant and inexcusable. It

was however though, my contention that I did not act with any criminal intent. And, because I held to this contention I was severely punished. While the State made me out to be such a monster and such a threat, they have continually failed to recognize even when I have pointed it out, that if it really was my goal or intent to kill anyone I would have taken the misdemeanor, gotten out to freedom and killed these people. Apparently, because I fight for my innocence that makes me more of a monster and a threat.

Because I did not bow down and do as they wanted me to do, because I dared to hold a different opinion than they, and because I fought for my innocence I have been severely punished. Seven years ago I believed in justice, I believed in the rule of law. I can't necessarily say after all I have been through since then, that I even remotely hold those same beliefs anymore. However, I still hope and pray that justice exists in accord with the rule of law. Because, if justice ceases to exist we are all doomed, so I cannot help but hope and pray that it still exists.

Originally, in my cyberstalking trial, I had thought that I could win by showing that I never had any intent to intimidate or harass anyone, but all that mattered for my conviction was that I communicated

facially threatening words (negligence) regardless of anything else. Then take into account the social and political atmosphere of this state by which this is a "woman state," whereas, as a man you have a higher burden to meet to prove your innocence when the crime victim is a woman, my chances of winning at trial were slim to none. If I'd only ~~known~~ all this then. In a sense this state embodies reverse-chauvinism, and I don't mean that as an affront to anyone, so please do not take offense. It is merely a fact and is actually a general consensus amongst inmates. This state in an effort to provide equality has tipped the scales against men. I have no problem with equality, and in fact I am a fervent believer in it, but the very word implies that we will all be treated the same, none above the other. And, in this state that just does not seem to be the case.

For example, the State completely ignores the fact that the victims (females) knew I was not doing good, knew I was in a bad place, knew I suffered a recent traumatic brain injury (TBI) that was central to the messaging, knew that I was having fleeting ideations of suicide and they did nothing. It is not an unreasonable inference to say that these victims, whom have exhibited an extreme dislike for myself

had wanted and hoped that I would eventually kill myself, and when I didn't they went to the police. See also BCW 9A.36.060 - Promoting a Suicide attempt. The totality of the facts reasonably suggests this, but the State cares nothing about it and continues to push the narrative of how big a monster and a threat I am, ultimately comparing me to be scarier than the state's most prolific serial killer, Gary Ridgway, see PBP pg. 10-12.

The current case's prosecutor, Gary Ernsdorf explained that the suicidal ideations made me more dangerous, see RP at 658, regardless of the fact that I couldn't kill myself, let alone anyone else. What if hypothetically I had killed myself, what then? Would the prosecutor maybe have shown a bit more empathy if I had? I can't help but wonder if the scenario were switched and I were a female and the victims male, how would this case be viewed. I can only imagine not as severe and definitely more sympathetic to the woman.

Then, it must be considered that the State took most of what I said (wrote) out of context and made everything sound much worse than it actually was. They ignored the totality of the facts, context and circumstances, which is contrary to accepted case law, and pushed their false narrative. That is not to say that there aren't some

very bad sounding messages, because there definitely is, it is just that the State purposely construes them in a way that makes me sound as bad as possible, which isn't equitable at all. There is nothing fair about misrepresenting the facts. And, most importantly, to penalize me for the way in which I express myself without any consideration to my criminal intent, that is to say, whether I meant to (intent) or knew (knowing) I would engender fear by the words I communicated, not that I meant to or knew the words I communicated were factually threatening (negligence), is to discriminate against me. To penalize negligent speech because you don't like it or agree with it, is discrimination, and the State discriminates when it penalizes negligent speech.

This State has continually failed to recognize the correct construction of its mens rea of "intent" and "knowing" in the context of threats prosecutions and has allowed for convictions of negligent speech for much too long. In a sense it is nothing more than a form of social engineering, which is wrong, and goes against First Amendment and free society principles. Because I have a very colorful imagination, albeit dark colors at times, I am discriminated against. Because I was not necessarily raised right and when I am extremely angry and frustrated I

express myself in ways that are not necessarily appropriate, but are not uncommon to me nor quite a number of people for that matter, I am discriminated against. I will admit that this form of expression I speak of exhibits a lower class mentality. Nevertheless, it is neither fair nor right to discriminate against it.

Because I have continued to fight for my innocence the State has determined to severely punish me at every turn. After I satisfied the first part of the cyberstalking's 50 month DSA sentence - 25 months, I was released to the second part - 25 months community custody. Two months later my trial transcripts for my appeal were ready and the easiest way to get them was to have my appellate attorney email them, even though I was not supposed to be on the internet nor use any form of social media. However, and as my attorney told me, I had every right to use any tool necessary to help fight my appeal. I also needed to research caselaw so I started to use the internet for this very purpose, to fight my appeal.

I went through the transcripts and when I got to the State's rebuttal I noticed that a highly prejudicial statement made by the prosecutor was missing. I was livid to say the least. This statement discredited

me and my whole closing argument, "don't listen to Mr. Stanley, he does not know the law, he does not know what he is talking about." And, the judge had already hushed me from objecting to improper opinion during the State's closing, explaining now was not the time to object. I had stated caselaw verbatim, in my closing, in an effort to establish reasonable doubt. I'm not a lawyer so of course the jury would believe the State. It was 1½ weeks after my conviction that I wrote a post-conviction motion for prosecutorial and judicial misconduct largely based on this statement, that was now missing. I was so upset by this omission, that I went to the FBI, with this circumstantial evidence of the motion, to have them investigate. Only, they declined saying it was a matter for my appeal. However, it never did get addressed in my appeal.

Right at this same time I decided to try to get a hold of someone whom I had wanted to be a witness in my trial, but to no fault of my own I was not able to contact this person before my trial nor during it, (the private investigator assigned to me could not find her). Now that I was no longer incarcerated I could use social media to try to engage her, which I did. However, instead of answering me she talked to the victims whom then contacted the police. Next,



my community corrections officer (CCO) was contacted and I was violated for using the internet and social media, and for third party contact with the victims. Which, I never intended for any third party contact with the victims. This was my first violation as I had complied with DOC in every other way up to the point of using the internet as a tool for fighting my appeal. I had been free for nearly four months at the time and actively working on my appeal. For this first violation I was sent back to prison to do the remainder of my time (13 months with good time).

It was on the chain bus to Washington Corrections Center (WCC) that I met the State's first informant, Bandy Burleson, and when we arrived at WCC we were celled together for 12 days. There are a lot of things in retrospect about Burleson that were very suspicious. In my heart I feel and know that the State planted him in the cell with me, in retaliation for going to the FBI, in an effort to set this up and to keep me quiet. Regardless of whether I could prove this or not, the facts and circumstances that were to follow should raise suspicions regarding King County's motive in all this. King County's extreme dislike for myself and their bias against me is fully demonstrated from the

totality of the facts and circumstances of this case. The PRP I authored is conclusive to this point.

The PRP demonstrates that the detective led the narrative in both the informants statements, pushing a narrative that I am crazy and scary. The State's second informant, Billy Temple, came on the scene a year after I was celled with Burleson and agreed to have the cell we occupied together recorded (bugged), which proved to be exculpatory evidence that the trial judge would not admit. Nevertheless, both of these informants committed perjury regarding material facts as the PRP conclusively shows. The PRP also shows that the detective commits perjury in the probable cause as well as on the stand. Prosecutor Ernsdorf commits perjury in his presentation of the facts as well as being fully complicit with these other acts of perjury. Both the detective and prosecutor engage in witness tampering when they lead the victims to believe that the in-cell audio recording (bug) corroborated Burleson and had me discussing a plan to kill the victims, which of course was not true as the PRP and SAG conclusively demonstrate. In this respect the detective and prosecutor engaged in felony harassment themselves, as they are the ones whom pushed a false narrative engendering substantial

fear into the victims, leading them to believe the false threats would be carried out. This conduct is truly outrageous and should shock anyones conscious. Ultimately, Prosecutor Ernsdorf engaged in a malicious prosecution, given all the facts.

I do feel I was set up by King County because I went to the FBI and because I continued to fight for my innocence. This has all been extremely stressful as I do not feel I can trust anyone, from state actors to inmates. Informants that will lie to please the State for any number of reasons are a dime a dozen, both Burleson and Temple prove this. And, state actors like the detective and prosecutor are more than happy to assist, direct and encourage their lies, often times lying themselves. Then couple that with the fact that I obviously upset some very powerful people in this state and I become extremely stressed out about what to expect next.

I just want my life back. I worked hard to become a Mechanical Engineer, paying for all my schooling myself (loans still outstanding accruing interest). I want to go back to being an engineer if I ever can. I feel the only way to do that and to get my old life back is to continue to fight for my innocence and to clear my name from the way in which the

State has painted me to be. However, and because I continue to fight for my innocence I feel I could spend the rest of my life in prison. It isn't right to severely punish someone because they fight for their innocence. I loath the day I stepped foot in this state, and dream of the day I can leave and never come back. Part of leaving this state however, is making sure the State leaves me alone for good. They trumped up these charges, what is to stop them from doing it again, especially if I continue to fight for my innocence. Needless to say, I find myself in a very precarious situation. A situation I would not wish on my worst enemy. It is truly very stressful.

#### IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted

Presented in this section are both issues that the Court of Appeals did review and mostly others that they declined to review because they determined they were moot. In the discussion for each issue I will address whether the Court reviewed the issue or not. If the Court did not review the issue, the factors listed in RAP 13.4(b) will not necessarily apply because the issue was never reviewed. Nevertheless, I ask that this Court please accept review of these

issues, as well as the other issues I have presented.

• A.) Issues not moot - The Court of Appeals in reaching their decision determined that the remaining issues were mooted by the reversal and remand for a new trial, so as they did not consider many outstanding issues. However, they failed to recognize that "[a] case is moot if the issues it presents are 'purely academic.' Grays Harbor Paper Co. v. Grays Harbor Co., 74 Wn.2d 70, 73 (1968). It is not moot, however, if a court can still provide effective relief. Pentagram Corp. v. Seattle, 28 Wn. App. 219, 223 (1981)." State v. Turner, 98 Wn.2d 731, 733 (1983); see also City of Sequim v. Malkarian, 157 Wn.2d 251, 258-59 (2006). The same logic applies to a case where the court's decision on one issue has mooted the rest of the issues in the case. And, as is the case here, where all except one of the issues presented in this petition could lead to effective relief other than a remand for a new trial, the issues are not moot. The one issue that is moot, poses a question regarding its standard of review that the Court could take the opportunity to resolve, if it so saw fit to.

Therefore, for these reasons and because the Court of Appeals has passed on reviewing these particular

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