FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
5/14/2021 4:16 PM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99732-2  
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 36432-1-III  
CONSOL. WITH NO. 37546-3-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SLOAN STANLEY,

Petitioner.

---

**ANSWER AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

JAMES L. NAGLE  
Walla Walla County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING  
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

Office of the Prosecuting Attorney  
240 West Alder, Suite 201  
Walla Walla, Washington 99362  
(509) 524-5445

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

**D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

This Court should accept review of the Sixth Amendment issue because the court of appeals’ holding that the trial court abused its discretion misapplies the relevant law in direct conflict with decisions of this Court. The opinion misconstrues the rules of evidence and abridges trial courts’ evidentiary discretion. The decision raises a matter of substantial public interest because trial courts are likely to rely on the court of appeals’ misapplication of the law to conclude that the exclusion of *any* defense evidence — regardless of whether it violates the rules of evidence or is only marginally relevant — abridges a defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense.

**1. THE COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION  
CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.**

RAP 13.4(b)(1) permits review if the decision of the court of appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court. Although the court of appeals purported to apply the two-step analysis outlined in State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 797-98, 814, 453 P.3d 696 (2019), it misstated the relevant law in a manner that conflicts with this Court’s precedent and

ultimately failed to give proper deference to the trial court's discretion as to the admissibility of the evidence. Review should be accepted.

When considering a defendant's denial of a defense claim, the appellate court first considers whether the evidence is at least minimally relevant and otherwise admissible under the rules of evidence. State v. Lee, 188 Wn.2d 473, 488, 396 P.3d 810 (2017); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720-21, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). The trial court's determination as to the relevance and admissibility of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Horn, 3 Wn. App. 2d 302, 312, 415 P.3d 1225 (2018).

Stanley's defense at trial was that Burlison was lying, and that Stanley never made the July 2016 threatening statements that Burlison attributed to him. As proof, Stanley offered the Temple testimony (and recordings) as substantive evidence, arguing that evidence he did not make threats in August 2017 was relevant to show that he did not make threats in July 2016. RP 459-60. Stanley further argued that his out-of-court statements met the hearsay exception in ER 803(a)(3) for statements of then-existing mental, emotional, or physical condition. RP 460. The court of appeals concluded that the Temple evidence was relevant because it "would have bolstered" Delano's testimony, and that contrary to the trial court's judgment, it was admissible as state-of-mind evidence under ER

803(a)(3). Stanley, No. 36432-1-III at 24-25. Both of those conclusions conflict with caselaw from this Court.

First, the court of appeals misapplied the law to conclude that Stanley's out-of-court statements to Temple were admissible as state-of-mind evidence. Contrary to the opinion below, the State was *not* required to prove "that Stanley intended or planned to harm or kill" the victims, nor did it attempt to do so. Felony harassment does not require the State to prove that a defendant intends to carry out his threats; the harm is in the threats themselves. State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 54, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004). All the State needed to prove was that Stanley knowingly threatened to kill the victims, and that the victims were placed in reasonable fear that the threats would be carried out. RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i), (1)(b), (2)(b)(ii). It may be that Stanley did not actually intend to make good on his threats. But that was irrelevant to whether he *knowingly made* them and whether the *victims believed* he would make good on them.

And even though statements that are offered as circumstantial evidence of the declarant's state of mind are not hearsay, they must be *relevant* to be admissible. State v. Stubbsjoen, 48 Wn. App. 139, 146, 738 P.2d 306 (1987). The hearsay exception in ER 803(a)(3) applies only when the out-of-court statements reflect upon the defendant's state-of-



mind *at a time that is relevant to the charges*. The “‘then’ in the term ‘then-existing’ refers to the time the statement was made.” State v. Sanchez-Guillen, 135 Wn. App. 636, 646, 145 P.3d 406 (2006). See also Stubsjoen, 48 Wn. App. at 146 (in kidnapping case, defendant’s out-of-court statements expressing lack of intent to abduct baby not admissible when relevant state of mind was when defendant took baby, not hour-and-a-half later when statements made). In other words, Temple’s testimony was inadmissible hearsay unless Stanley’s August 2017 statements reflected on Stanley’s state of mind when he made the July 2016 threats.

The trial court correctly recognized that Stanley’s state of mind in August 2017, when he spoke to Temple, was simply not relevant to charges of harassment occurring in July 2016. RP 463. For example, an out-of-court statement to Temple, made in August 2017, that Stanley wanted to “debench” Judge Ramsdell (rather than kill him) did not disprove Stanley’s state of mind a full year earlier, when he threatened to kill the judge to Burleson. See ER 401. Likewise, the absence of threats to kill the four women to Temple in August 2017 says nothing about Stanley’s knowing threats to kill the women to Burleson in 2016.

In addition to erroneously concluding that the evidence met the state-of-mind hearsay exception, the court of appeals also concluded that the evidence was relevant because, “The fact that Temple’s testimony

would be similar to Delano's served to bolster Delano's testimony and undermine Burleson's." Stanley, No. 36432-1-III at 25. But that conclusion ignores ER 404(b)'s prohibition against admitting evidence of a person's other acts "in order to show action in conformity therewith." See State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 468, 39 P.3d 294 (2002) (evidence of other acts offered to show conformity therewith is propensity evidence forbidden by ER 404(b)). By the court of appeals' reasoning, any defendant in a felony harassment case could call unlimited witnesses to testify about every conversation the defendant ever had that did not include threats. But that would be improper under ER 404(b), which applies equally to evidence offered by the defendant. State v. Donald, 178 Wn. App. 250, 272, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013).

In sum, Stanley's state of mind in 2017 was irrelevant to whether he knowingly threatened the victims in 2016, and Stanley's attempt to use Temple's testimony as propensity evidence was improper. The evidence was properly excluded because it was irrelevant.

By singularly focusing on the trial court's citation to the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule, the court of appeals erroneously concluded that the trial court abused its discretion by "misapplying the law." Stanley, No. 36432-1-III at 24-25. But even if the trial court erroneously referenced a different exception to the hearsay rule, it

*properly* concluded that Stanley’s state of mind in August 2017 was irrelevant to the threats he made in July 2016. RP 463. Thus, the evidence was properly excluded under the correct legal standard that applies to ER 803(a)(3), and the court of appeals should have affirmed. See State v. Smith, 165 Wn. App. 296, 308, 266 P.3d 250 (2011) (court of appeals can affirm on any ground supported by the record).

Further, the court of appeals’ opinion intrudes on the abuse-of-discretion standard that this Court carefully guards. It fails to consider whether any “reasonable judge would have made the same ruling.” State v. Burke, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, 478 P.3d 1096, 1114 (2021) (citations omitted). It simply cannot be said that no reasonable judge would have concluded — under the proper legal standard for state-of-mind evidence — that Stanley’s 2017 conversations with Temple were irrelevant to his state of mind in 2016. That reasonable minds might disagree is not the standard. State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 264, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004).

Finally, the court of appeals believed the evidence was improperly excluded for another reason — one that Stanley himself did not argue below, did not raise on appeal, and disavowed when raised by the court of appeals at oral argument. Evidence that Stanley spoke of the case in August 2017 without making threats to kill might have been relevant insofar as it related to the victims’ reasonable fear. Stanley, No. 36432-1-

III at 25. But Stanley did not offer the evidence for that purpose. He did not cross-examine the victims about the statements to Temple and he did not argue on appeal that his right to present a defense was denied on that basis. At oral argument, Stanley conceded that it was “trial strategy” not to question the victims about the Temple evidence, and that if they had been confronted with it, their testimony about their reasonable fear was not likely to change.<sup>5</sup> The court of appeals should not have even considered this basis, let alone reversed on it. RAP 10.3(a)(4), (6); Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Regardless, the court of appeals’ reasoning on this point was erroneous. Even if the Temple evidence were relevant to the victim’s reasonable fear, it was *not* admissible as substantive evidence in Stanley’s case-in-chief, which is how Stanley sought to admit it. The victims would had to have *known about* the Temple evidence in order for it to have any relevance to their reasonable fear. Thus, it would have been admissible *only* for cross-examining the victims about whether and how the Temple conversations might affect their testimony that they feared Stanley’s threats. Horn, 3 Wn. App. at 313. The evidence was not independently

---

<sup>5</sup> <https://www.tvw.org/watch/?clientID=9375922947&eventID=2021011410&autoStartStream=true> at 12:48 to 15:00.

admissible in Stanley's case-in-chief, and Stanley did not offer it as impeachment evidence.

The court of appeals' opinion misapprehends this point by concluding that "*if the jury believed both Burlison and Temple, it might find that the fear of the alleged victims was not reasonable.*"<sup>6</sup> Stanley, No. 36432-1-III at 25. But as noted, had the evidence been admitted as relevant to the victim's reasonable fear, the jury would not have heard from Temple himself, but would have heard cross-examination of the victims about Stanley's conversations with Temple and how that did or did not affect their fear. Stanley could have chosen to confront the victims with the audio recordings of his conversations with Temple, but he chose not to.<sup>7</sup> As Stanley made clear at oral argument, he chose not to because it would not have been successful.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> This conclusion also shows the court of appeals misunderstood the elements of felony harassment. The jury was not charged with determining whether Stanley actually posed a threat to the victims in 2017, but whether their fear was reasonable based on the threats he knowingly made in 2016.

<sup>7</sup> The court of appeals' decision also overlooks that the jury *did* hear that Stanley made no threats of bodily harm to Temple over the course of the seven days that they spent together. RP 347. And yet the jury still found the victim's fear to be reasonable.

<sup>8</sup> It would not have been successful because the victims would have readily comprehended, as the trial court did, that the absence of threats in 2017 did not have any bearing on whether Stanley threatened them in 2016 — the women had been living in fear of Stanley's threats for nearly a decade. In other words, by acknowledging that confronting the victims with the Temple conversations would not have affected their fear, Stanley acknowledged the *irrelevance* of the evidence.

The court of appeals' conclusion that the trial court abused its discretion to exclude the Temple evidence conflicts with this Court's precedent. Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b).

**2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION  
IMPLICATES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL  
PUBLIC INTEREST.**

Even assuming that the Temple evidence was minimally relevant, the court of appeals concluded that Stanley's right to present a defense was entirely denied without following the proper analysis outlined by this Court. This raises an issue of substantial public interest because lower courts are likely to rely on the decision below to conclude that the exclusion of *any* defense evidence — regardless of whether it violates the rules of evidence or is only marginally relevant — abridges a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense.

The court of appeals appears to have believed that the State did not argue on appeal that “the proffered evidence would disrupt the trial process.” Stanley, No. 36432-1-III at 26. But the court overlooked the State's argument — both in the trial court and on appeal — that the evidence Stanley sought to offer was *hearsay*. A defendant's interest in presenting relevant evidence may “bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process,” including the long-standing rule against the admission of hearsay evidence. State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn.

App. 530, 553, 364 P.3d 810 (2015). Allowing Stanley to introduce his own out-of-court statements through the testimony of another would place his “version of the facts before the jury without subjecting [him] to cross-examination,” would deprive the State “of the benefit of testing the credibility of the statements” and would deny the jury “an objective basis for weighing the probative value of the evidence.” State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). In other words, it would disrupt the trial process.

When an evidentiary ruling prevents a defendant from presenting evidence that amounts to the entirety of the defendant’s case, then that evidence’s probative value will outweigh nearly any state interest. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 721, 723-24. However, if a defendant is still able to offer other evidence to support his theory of the case, then his interest in the admission of the evidence may give way to other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process. United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S. Ct. 1261, 140 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1998). This Court recently reiterated that ordinary evidentiary exclusions should be left to a trial court’s discretion if the evidence is not “critically important” or “highly relevant.” State v. Orn, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 482 P.3d 913, 920-21 (2021). In Orn, the excluded evidence “far exceeded” the “threshold of minimal relevance,” and thus “could not be excluded unless the State showed ‘a compelling interest to

exclude prejudicial or inflammatory evidence.” 482 P.3d at 921 (citations omitted).

Here, Stanley’s proffered evidence — that he did not make threats to Temple in 2017 — was not of “extremely high probative value” or “critically important” to Stanley’s defense that he did not make threats to Burleson in 2016. The fact that someone does not make threats to one person on one occasion does not make it any less likely that he made threats to someone else on an entirely different occasion in an entirely different context. And excluding the Temple evidence did not entirely foreclose Stanley’s ability to challenge Burleson’s testimony as false. Stanley presented Delano, who said the same thing as Temple would have, but as it related to a much more relevant time — July 2016. Furthermore, Detective Christiansen testified that when listening to the audio, he did not hear Stanley make direct threats to Temple during the week they were celled together.<sup>9</sup> The court of appeals’ conclusion — without proper analysis — that Stanley’s right to present a defense was violated is likely to confuse lower courts and raises an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be accepted.

---

<sup>9</sup> For all of these same reasons, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967).




**E. CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests this Court grant review of the court of appeals' decision to reverse Stanley's convictions for denial of the right to present a defense. Review should be denied on the issues raised by Stanley; those that were unaddressed by the court of appeals' decision can be addressed on remand.